Frequently asked clinical questions about medical abortion



WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Frequently asked clinical questions about medical abortion.

"On 1–5 November 2004, in Bellagio, Italy, the UNDP/UNFPA/WHO/World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP), organized a meeting entitled International Consensus Conference on Non-surgical (Medical) Abortion in Early First Trimester on Issues Related to Regimens and Service Delivery (Annex 1). This document is the result of the deliberations of the participants in that meeting, who included highly experienced researchers and clinicians in the area of medical abortion."--Background.

1.Abortion, Induced - methods. 2.Abortifacient agents. 3.Mifepristone. 4.Prostaglandins. 5.Family planning services. I.International Consensus Conference on Non-surgical (Medical) Abortion in Early First Trimester on Issues Related to Regimens and Service Delivery (2004: Bellagio, Italy) II.UNDP/UNFPA/WHO/World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction. III.World Health Organization. IV.Title: Medical abortion.

ISBN 92 4 159484 5 ISBN 978 92 4 159484 4 (NLM classification: WQ 440)

Frequently asked clinical questions about medical abortion

© World Health Organization 2006

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; e-mail: bookorders@who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications — whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution — should be addressed to WHO Press, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; e-mail: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

This publication contains the collective views of an international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

Printed in

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

WHO is grateful to the Rockefeller Foundation and its Bellagio Conference Center for providing space and accommodation for the meeting, and to lpas for its financial contribution towards the editing and printing of this publication.

CONTENTS

Background	1			
Introduction	3			
Pre-abortion care				
What counselling is needed by a woman with an unwanted pregnancy who is contemplating abortion?	7			
2. What factors should be taken into account when counselling a woman				
	8			
	9			
Do any other characteristics of the woman need to be taken into account in providing medical abortion?	J			
5. How should pregnancy be confirmed and gestation estimated? 1	1			
6. What clinical assessment and laboratory investigations are required prior to medical abortion?	2			
7. What steps are necessary to minimize the risk of undiagnosed ectopic pregnancy?	3			
Regimen for medical abortion				
8. What is the recommended regimen for medical abortion? 17	7			
9. Are other doses of mifepristone possible? 17				
10. Are other doses or routes of administration of the prostaglandin possible?	9			
11. What are the advantages and disadvantages of misoprostol versus gemeprost?)			
12. Can other prostaglandins be used?)			
13. Is the interval between administration of mifepristone and prostaglandin crucial?				
14. Can abortion be induced using prostaglandin alone?2	1			
15. What pain relief should be available to women during medical abortion? 22	2			
Postabortion care				
16. If a woman has an incomplete abortion, is it necessary to evacuate the uterus surgically?	7			
17. How should pelvic infection be diagnosed and treated after abortion? 27				
18. How should the success of medical abortion be confirmed? 28				
19. How should ectopic pregnancy be identified after medical abortion?				
20. Is there a risk of fetal abnormality after an unsuccessful medical abortion? 29	9			
21. Which methods of contraception can a woman use after medical abortion? 30				
Issues related to provision of medical abortion services				
Legal and regulatory issues 32	2			
Setting up a medical abortion service				
Obtaining the necessary medicines 33				
Annex 1 34	4			

BACKGROUND

n 1–5 November 2004, in Bellagio, Italy, the UNDP/UNFPA/WHO/World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP), organized a meeting entitled International Consensus Conference on Non-surgical (Medical) Abortion in Early First Trimester on Issues Related to Regimens and Service Delivery (Annex 1). This document is the result of the deliberations of the participants in that meeting, who included highly experienced researchers and clinicians in the area of medical abortion.

Prior to the meeting health-care personnel providing abortion services in various countries were asked to provide a list of the most frequently asked questions about medical abortion. The meeting participants reviewed those questions and compiled answers to them based on the scientific literature and their own clinical experience. The answers are presented in this publication.

INTRODUCTION

rovision of safe abortion to the full extent of the law is an important component of reproductive health services. The development of methods of inducing abortion medically (non-surgically) has created alternative options to make abortion available to women in a variety of health-care settings. The topic has been reviewed extensively in the past five years and a number of evidence-based guidelines have been published (1-6).

It is not the intention here to repeat these guidelines, but rather to provide answers to frequently asked questions, based on a review of available evidence. By focusing on practical issues, the answers should be particularly helpful to health-care personnel who are considering establishing, or already providing, a service for medical abortion in the early first trimester.

Ideally, any method of medical abortion should have an overall efficacy comparable to that of vacuum aspiration, i.e. a rate of complete abortion of more than 95% and an ongoing pregnancy rate of less than 1%.

Other desirable characteristics of a method of medical abortion for the early first trimester are the following:

- it should be effective up to 63 days of gestation;
- it should be easy to administer;
- it should be safe, and have acceptable side-effects;
- blood loss should be similar to, or less than, that associated with vacuum aspiration;
- it should be affordable;
- it should be widely available.

The only regimen that meets the efficacy criteria is a combination of mifepristone and a prostaglandin — either misoprostol or gemeprost. Use of mifepristone or a prostaglandin alone does not meet them. Use of methotrexate in combination with prostaglandin can approach the required efficacy, but is not recommended because it is teratogenic.

The recommendations on medical abortion given here are restricted to early first trimester (up to 63 days since the first day of the last menstrual period – LMP). Although administration of mifepristone followed by a prostaglandin will terminate pregnancy at any stage (and in some countries is licensed for abortion up to 24 weeks), termination of pregnancy when gestational age is >63 days is less common, requires an inpatient setting, and raises separate medical, legal and service issues.

References

- 1. *Medical methods for termination of pregnancy.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 1997 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 871).
- 2. National evidence-based clinical guideline: the care of women requesting induced abortion. Updated guidelines. London, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2004.
- 3. Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003.
- 4. *Providing medical abortion in developing countries: an introductory guidebook.* New York, Gynuity Health Projects, 2004.
- Prise en charge de l'interruption volontaire de grossesse jusqu'à 14 semaines. Paris, L'Agence Nationale d'Accréditation et d'Evaluation en Santé (ANAES), 2001; available at: http://www.anaes.fr/; accessed on 22 February 2006.
- 6. Guidelines for the use of mifepristone and prostaglandin in termination of early pregnancy. In: *Guideline for family planning technology.* Beijing, State Ministry of Health and Family Planning Committee, 2003 [Document No (2003)32].

PRE-ABORTION CARE



1. What counselling is needed by a woman with an unwanted pregnancy who is contemplating abortion?

Every woman with an unwanted pregnancy who is contemplating abortion should receive counselling from a trained health-care professional with comprehensive knowledge and experience of different methods of abortion. Information must be provided to each woman, regardless of her age or circumstances, in a way that she can understand, to allow her to make her own decisions about whether to have an abortion and what method to choose.

Both counselling and abortion procedures should be provided as promptly as possible without undue delay. Nevertheless, clinicians should be sensitive in recognizing that some women require additional time and support in reaching their decision.

Abortion counselling can take place in any health-care setting; ideally, it should be given where the abortion procedure can be initiated. Private interview facilities are essential and each woman should be free to choose to be interviewed alone or with the support of a partner, parent, or friend.

Health-care professionals providing abortion counselling must be familiar with their local legal framework regarding consent by women below the legal age of consent. Each woman should reach her own decision and should not be coerced into involving her parents or partner where there is no legal requirement to do so.

Ideally, pre-abortion counselling should include discussion about future contraceptive needs. In helping the woman choose the most appropriate contraceptive method for the future, it may be useful to explore the circumstances in which the unwanted pregnancy occurred. The goal of contraceptive counselling and provision in the context of abortion care is to begin the chosen method immediately after abortion.

- Haddad M et al. Patient support and education for promoting adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy for HIV/AIDS. Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews, 2000, 3:CD001442.
- 2. John J. Improving quality through patient provider communication. *Journal of Health Care Marketing*, 1991, 11:51–60.
- 3. Lewin SA et al. Interventions for providers to promote a patient-centered approach in clinical consultations. *Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews*, 2001, 4:CD003267.
- 4. The Picker Institute. *From the patient's perspective: quality of abortion care.* Washington, DC, Kaiser Family Foundation, 1999.
- 5. Zapka JG et al. The silent consumer: women's reports and ratings of abortion services. *Medical Care*, 2001, 39:50–60.

2. What factors should be taken into account when counselling a woman about her choice between medical and surgical abortion?

There is little, if any, difference between medical and surgical abortion in terms of safety and efficacy. Thus, both methods are similar from a medical point of view and there are only very few situations where a recommendation for one or the other method for medical reasons can be given.

Two studies (1, 2) have found that women are more likely to find a method of abortion acceptable if they have chosen it themselves. Being provided with a choice of methods is seen as extremely important by the majority of women undergoing abortion (2). Many studies suggest that women who choose medical abortion find it more acceptable at earlier than later gestations (1, 3–5).

Medical abortion may be preferred:

- if it is the woman's preference;
- in very early gestation; up to 49 days of gestation, medical abortion is considered to be more effective than surgical abortion, especially when clinical practice does not include detailed inspection of aspirated tissue (6);
- if the woman is severely obese (body mass index greater than 30) but does not have other cardiovascular risk factors (see question 3), as surgical treatment may be technically more difficult;
- if the woman has uterine malformations or a fibroid uterus, or has previously had cervical surgery (which may make surgical abortion technically more difficult);
- if the woman wants to avoid a surgical intervention.

Surgical abortion may be preferred:

- if it is the woman's preference, or if she requests concurrent sterilization;
- if she has contraindications to medical abortion (see question 3);
- if time or geographical constraints preclude the follow-up needed to confirm that abortion is complete.

References

- Henshaw RC et al. Comparison of medical abortion with surgical vacuum aspiration: women's preferences and acceptability of treatment. *British Medical Journal*, 1993, 307:714-717.
- Slade P et al. A comparison of medical and surgical termination of pregnancy: choice, emotional impact and satisfaction with care. *British Journal of Obstetrics* and *Gynaecology*, 1998, 105:1288–1295.

- 3. Honkanen H, von Hertzen H. Users' perspectives on medical abortion in Finland. *Contraception*, 2002, 65:419–423.
- Winikoff B et al. Safety, efficacy and acceptability of medical abortion in China, Cuba, and India: a comparative trial of mifepristone/misoprostol versus surgical abortion. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 1997, 176:431–437.
- Honkanen H et al. WHO multinational study of three misoprostol regimens after mifepristone for early medical abortion. II: Side effects and women's perceptions. BJOG, 2004, 111:1–11.
- 6. National evidence-based clinical guideline: the care of women requesting induced abortion. Updated guidelines. London, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2004.

3. What are the contraindications to medical abortion?

There are very few absolute contraindications to medical abortion. They include:

- previous allergic reaction to one of the drugs involved;
- inherited porphyria;
- chronic adrenal failure:
- known or suspected ectopic pregnancy.

Caution is required in a range of circumstances including:

- if the woman is on long-term corticosteroid therapy (including those with severe, uncontrolled asthma);
- if she has a haemorrhagic disorder;
- if she has severe anaemia;
- if she has pre-existing heart disease or cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. hypertension and smoking).

- Hill NCW et al. The placental transfer of mifepristone during the second trimester and its influence upon maternal and fetal steroid concentrations. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1990, 97:406–411.
- Leighton B et al. Physiological glucocorticoid levels regulate glutamine and insulinmediated glucose metabolism in skeletal muscle of the rat. Studies with RU 486 (mifepristone). *Biochemistry Journal*, 1991, 274:187–192.

- 4. Do any other characteristics of the woman need to be taken into account in providing medical abortion?
- ▶ **Age.** Neither adolescence nor older age (e.g. over 35 years) should be regarded as a contraindication to medical abortion.
- Anaemia. This need not be regarded as a contraindication. However, anaemia detected at the time of abortion should be treated. Average blood loss in medical abortion may be more than that in surgical abortion (1), and the incidence of heavy bleeding may be higher.
- ▶ **Breastfeeding**. It is likely that mifepristone passes into breast milk. Studies investigating the endocrine effects of mifepristone on the fetus have found increased levels of adrenocorticotropic hormone and cortisol (2). The clinical implications of these changes are unclear.

Small amounts of misoprostol also enter breast milk soon after administration, but it is not known whether this could have any effect on the infant. As misoprostol levels decline rapidly, it has been recommended that misoprostol should be taken immediately after a feed and the next feed given after four hours in case of oral administration (3). After vaginal administration, misoprostol levels stay high for longer, and the feed should preferably be given more than six hours later. Unfortunately, the available data do not allow a precise recommendation on optimum timing.

- Insulin-dependent diabetes or thyroid disorder. There is no evidence that medical abortion causes particular problems in women with these disorders. However, mifepristone has been shown to alter insulin sensitivity in vitro (4) and these effects may or may not be reflected in blood sugar and insulin levels.
- ▶ **Multiple pregnancy (current gestation)**. There is no evidence that the failure rate of medical abortion is increased or that a different dosage regimen is required in the case of multiple pregnancy.
- **Obesity.** There is no evidence that the failure rate of medical abortion is increased or that a different dosage regimen is required in obese women.
- **Previous Caesarean section**. There is evidence from one study that the safety and efficacy of early medical abortion are unaffected by previous Caesarean section (5).
- **Smoking.** There is no evidence of interaction between the risks of smoking and medical abortion. However, smoking contributes to cardiovascular risk and this factor should be considered when assessing a woman's overall suitability for medical abortion.
- ▶ Uterine malformations, congenital and acquired; previous cervical surgery. There is no evidence that these represent contraindications.

References

- Chan YF, Ho PC, Ma HK. Blood loss in termination of early pregnancy by vacuum aspiration and by combination of mifepristone and gemeprost. *Contraception*, 1993, 47:85–95.
- 2. Hill NCW et al. The placental transfer of mifepristone during the second trimester and its influence upon maternal and fetal steroid concentrations. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1990, 97:406–411.
- 3. Vogel D et al. Misoprostol versus methylergometrine: pharmacokinetics in human milk. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2004, 191:2168–2173.
- Leighton B et al. Physiological glucocorticoid levels regulate glutamine and insulinmediated glucose metabolism in skeletal muscle of the rat. Studies with RU 486 (mifepristone). *Biochemistry Journal*, 1991, 274:187–192.
- 5. Xu J et al. Termination of early pregnancy in the scarred uterus with mifepristone and misoprostol. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics*, 2001, 72:245–251.

5. How should pregnancy be confirmed and gestation estimated?

In most cases, pregnancy can be confirmed and its length estimated on the basis of the woman's history and a physical examination. Occasionally, laboratory tests may be needed when the typical signs of pregnancy are not clearly present and the health-care provider is unsure whether the woman is pregnant.

Ultrasound scanning is not necessary for the provision of early abortion. Where ultrasound equipment is available, a scan can help identify an intrauterine pregnancy and exclude an ectopic one after about six weeks. It also helps determine gestational age and diagnose pathologies or non-viability of a pregnancy.

- 1. *Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003.
- National evidence-based clinical guideline: the care of women requesting induced abortion. Updated guidelines. London, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2004.

6. What clinical assessment and laboratory investigations are required prior to medical abortion?

As for any method of abortion, clinical history-taking should serve to identify contraindications (see question 3) and to identify risk factors for complications. History-taking should include: personal and family history of relevant diseases; current use of medications and known allergies; obstetric and gynaecological history, including ectopic pregnancies; any bleeding tendencies; and history of sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Social history should include risk assessment for STIs, taking into account local STI prevalence rates. The clinician must be alert to the possibility of violence or coercion in the context of the unwanted pregnancy.

Basic routine observations (pulse, blood pressure, and temperature) are useful as a baseline.

There are no laboratory tests that are essential before medical abortion. However, tests such as haemoglobin level, blood group and rhesus (Rh) typing, and screening for hepatitis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and STIs, may be offered on the basis of individual risk factors or available resources. Ideally, services should offer testing for pathogens in the lower genital tract, and treat women found positive.

Rhesus status. The prevalence of Rh-negative status varies markedly with ethnicity, being highest among Caucasians. For pregnancies up to 63 days gestation, the theoretical risk of maternal Rh sensitization is very low; there is no evidence that sensitization occurs at this stage of pregnancy. Thus, determination of blood group and Rh status and the offer of anti-D prophylaxis to Rh-negative women are not considered prerequisites for early medical abortion. In settings where the prevalence of Rh-negative status is high, and where resources permit, the offer of Rh typing and anti-D prophylaxis could be worthwhile as precautionary components of medical abortion care.

- Thong KJ, Norman JE, Baird DT. Changes in the concentration of alpha-fetoprotein and placental hormones following two methods of medical abortion in early pregnancy. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1993, 100:1111–1114.
- 2. Naik K et al. The incidence of fetomaternal haemorrhage following elective termination of first-trimester pregnancy. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 1988, 27:355–357.
- 3. Fiala C, Fux M, Gemzell-Danielsson K. Rh-prophylaxis in early abortion. *Acta Obstetrica et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 2003, 82:892–903.

- 4. Jabara S, Barnhart KT. Is Rh immune globulin needed in early first-trimester abortion? A review. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2003, 188:623–627.
- 5. Stevenson MM, Radcliffe KW. Preventing pelvic infection after abortion. *International Journal of STD and AIDS*, 1995, 6:305–312.
- 6. Penney GC. Preventing infective sequelae of abortion. *Human Reproduction*, 1997, 12 (11 Suppl): 107–112.
- 7. Stubblefield PG, Grimes DA. Current concepts: septic abortion. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 1994, 331:310–314.
- 8. Blackwell AL et al. Health gains from screening for infection of the lower genital tract in women attending for termination of pregnancy. *The Lancet*, 1993, 342:206–210.

7. What steps are necessary to minimize the risk of undiagnosed ectopic pregnancy?

Mifepristone and misoprostol are not treatments for ectopic pregnancy, which, if present, will continue to grow. If medical abortion is contemplated very early in gestation, i.e. before an intrauterine pregnancy can be diagnosed with ultrasound, clinicians must be particularly alert to the possibility of ectopic pregnancy. They should check whether the uterus feels smaller than expected according to the date of the woman's last menstrual period. Women should be told to seek medical advice promptly if they experience symptoms and signs that may indicate ectopic pregnancy, such as abdominal pain on one side. Verification of expulsion in these very early cases can be done only by comparing human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) levels prior to the treatment and at follow-up (see question 19).

Where clinical features (e.g. history of ectopic pregnancy or STI, discrepancy between menstrual dates and ultrasound appearance, vaginal bleeding, or pelvic pain) raise suspicion of an ectopic pregnancy, appropriate tests should be done. If ectopic pregnancy is diagnosed or strongly suspected, the woman should be transferred to an appropriate gynaecology service for continuing care.

- 1. Kenigsberg D et al. Medical treatment of residual ectopic pregnancy: RU486 and methotrexate. *Fertility and Sterility*, 1987, 47:2–3.
- 2. Ulmann A, Dubois C. Anti-progesterones in obstetrics, ectopic pregnancies and gynaecological malignancies. *Bailliere's Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1988, 2:631–638.
- 3. Liu F et al. Mifepristone in the treatment of 47 ectopic pregnancy patients. *Hunan Yi Ke Da Zue Zue Bao*, 1998, 23:265–268.

- 4. Gazavani MR et al. Mifepristone in combination with methotrexate for the medical treatment of tubal pregnancy: a randomised controlled trial. *Human Reproduction*, 1998, 13:1987–1990.
- 5. Fiala C et al. Verifying the effectiveness of medical abortion; ultrasound versus hCG testing. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 2003, 109:190–195.
- 6. Edwards J, Carson SA. New technologies permit safe abortion at less than 6 weeks' gestation and provide timely detection of ectopic gestation. *Americal Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 1997, 176:1101–1106.
- 7. Kelly AJ, Sowter MC, Trinder J. *The management of tubal pregnancy.* London, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2004 (RCOG Guideline No. 21).

REGIMEN FOR MEDICAL ABORTION



8. What is the recommended regimen for medical abortion?

The recommended regimen for medical abortion is 200 mg of mifepristone given orally, followed 36–48 hours later by a prostaglandin – either 0.8 mg of misoprostol or 1 mg of gemeprost – given vaginally (1, 2). This combination results in complete abortion in more than 96% of cases; the rate of continuing pregnancies is less than 1% in gestations up to 63 days' amenorrhoea (3–5).

Misoprostol can also be given orally at a dose of 0.4 mg, but owing to the higher failure rate with dose, it is recommended that oral misoprostol use at this dosage be restricted to very early pregnancy – i.e. < 50 days.

References

- Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003.
- 2. National evidence-based clinical guideline: the care of women requesting induced abortion. London, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2004.
- 3. Ashok PW et al. Factors affecting the outcome of early medical abortion: a review of 4132 consecutive cases. *BJOG*, 2002, 109:1281–1289.
- Schaff EA, Fielding SL, Westhoff C. Randomized trial of oral versus vaginal misoprostol 2 days after mifepristone 200 mg for abortion up to 63 days of pregnancy. Contraception, 2002, 66:247–250.
- 5. Schaff EA et al. Low-dose mifepristone followed by vaginal misoprostol at 48 hours for abortion up to 63 days. *Contraception*, 2000, 61:41–46.

9. Are other doses of mifepristone possible?

Both mifepristone and prostaglandins, given alone, may lead to abortion; however, they have either a low effectiveness or a high rate of side-effects. In combination, they act synergistically. The challenge, therefore, is to find a regimen combining the lowest doses for both drugs that is highly effective and has few side-effects. In addition, in many parts of the world, cost considerations are important.

In many countries, mifepristone is licensed for use as a single oral dose of 600 mg. However, there is no evidence that a dose of greater than 200 mg is necessary for optimal effect when followed by a suitable prostaglandin (1-4). Some studies have indicated that mifepristone can be given as five or six divided doses of 25 mg over three days, for a total dose of 125–150 mg (5). This regimen is widely used in China and has been shown to

be highly effective up to 49 days of gestation when used in combination with a suitable prostaglandin. However, for service delivery and patient convenience, the single dose of mifepristone is preferred.

A 50 mg dose of mifepristone has been shown to be less effective than a 200 mg dose, when given in combination with gemeprost vaginally *(6)*. Studies are continuing to investigate the minimum effective dose of mifepristone.

References

- World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods for Fertility Regulation. Termination of pregnancy with reduced doses of mifepristone. British Medical Journal, 1993, 307:532–537.
- World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods for Fertility Regulation. Comparison of two doses of mifepristone in combination with misoprostol for early medical abortion: a randomized trial. *BJOG*, 2000, 107:524–530.
- World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods for Fertility Regulation. Medical abortion at 57 to 63 days gestation with a lower dose of mifepristone and gemeprost. A randomized controlled trial. *Acta Obstetrica et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 2001, 80:447–451.
- McKinley C, Thong KJ, Baird DT. The effect of dose of mifepristone and gestation on the efficacy of medical abortion with mifepristone and misoprostol. *Human Reproduction*, 1993, 8:1502–1505.
- World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods for Fertility Regulation. Pregnancy termination with mifepristone and gemeprost: a multicenter comparison between repeated doses and a single dose of mifepristone. Fertility and Sterility, 1991, 56:32–40.
- 6. World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods for Fertility Regulation. Lowering the doses of mifepristone and gemeprost for early abortion: a randomised controlled trial. *BJOG*, 2001, 108:738–742.

10. Are other doses or routes of administration of the prostaglandin possible?

Vaginal administration of misoprostol is more effective and associated with fewer side-effects than oral administration of the same dose (1–4). However, if the woman prefers to take the drug orally, and the gestational age is less than 50 days LMP, two tablets of 0.2 mg of misoprostol can be taken orally 36–48 hours after the mifepristone dose (5). If the gestational age is 50 days or more LMP, oral administration of misoprostol is not recommended because of its higher failure rate.

In some studies, repeated doses of misoprostol have been used, either routinely for all women or in those with evidence of incomplete abortion (1, 6, 7). Repeated doses are associated with an increased incidence of prostaglandin-related side-effects. There is insufficient evidence at the moment that the overall efficacy is increased by using repeated doses of prostaglandin¹.

Lower vaginal doses and different routes of administration, e.g. buccal and sublingual, of misoprostol are currently under investigation.

References

- 1. von Hertzen H et al. WHO multinational study of three misoprostol regimens after mifepristone for early medical abortion. I: Efficacy. *BJOG*, 2003, 110:808–818.
- 2. El-Refaey H et al. Induction of abortion with mifepristone (RU 486) and oral or vaginal misoprostol. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 1995, 332:983–987.
- Honkanen H et al. WHO multinational study of three misoprostol regimens after mifepristone for early medical abortion. II: Side effects and women's perceptions. BJOG, 2004, 111:715–725.
- Schaff EA, Fielding SL, Westhoff C. Randomized trial of oral versus vaginal misoprostol 2 days after mifepristone 200 mg for abortion up to 63 days of pregnancy. Contraception, 2002, 66:247–250.
- 5. *Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003.
- 6. Cahill S, Gallo M, Castleman L. More than one dose of misoprostol in medical abortion at less than ten weeks of gestation *Contraception*, 2006, 74:36–41.
- 7. Ashok PW et al. Factors affecting the outcome of early medical abortion: a review of 4132 consecutive cases. *BJOG*, 2002, 109:1281–1289.

Although not covered in these guidelines, abortion in late first trimester and in the second trimester of pregnancy usually requires repeat administration of prostaglandins.

11. What are the advantages and disadvantages of misoprostol versus gemeprost?

Misoprostol is cheaper than gemeprost and is stable at room temperature. Gemeprost is formulated for use as 1 mg vaginal pessaries and needs to be kept frozen until about half an hour before use. Some studies report that severe pain is more common after gemeprost compared to misoprostol (1, 2). Although misoprostol is formulated for oral use, it is more effective if given vaginally or sublingually (3–5).

References

- 1. Svendsen PF et al. Comparison of gemeprost and vaginal misoprostol in first trimester mifepristone-induced abortion. *Contraception*, 2005, 72:28–32.
- Celentano C et al. Oral misoprostol vs. vaginal gemeprost prior to surgical termination of pregnancy in nulliparae. *Acta Obstetrica et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 2004, 83:764–768.
- 3. El-Refaey H et al. Induction of abortion with mifepristone (RU 486) and oral or vaginal misoprostol. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 1995, 332:983–987.
- 4. Tang OS et al. A prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled trial on the use of mifepristone with sublingual or vaginal misoprostol for medical abortions of less than 9 weeks gestation. *Human Reproduction*, 2003, 18:2315–2318.
- Tang OS et al. A prospective randomized comparison of sublingual and oral misoprostol when combined with mifepristone for medical abortion at 12–20 weeks' gestation. *Human Reproduction*, 2005, 20:3062–3066.

12. Can other prostaglandins be used?

A number of prostaglandins that were used in the past, such as sulprostone and 15-methyl prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$, are no longer used because of their adverse side-effects or relative lack of efficacy (1).

Reference

1. Sang G et al. A large-scale introductory trial on termination of early pregnancy by mifepristone in combination with different prostaglandins. *Chinese Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 1999, 15:323–329.

13. Is the interval between administration of mifepristone and prostaglandin crucial?

The licensed and most commonly used interval, of 36–48 hours (1, 2), corresponds to the time when the uterus is most sensitive to prostaglandin after priming with mifepristone; hence the therapeutic dose can be reduced to the minimum. This interval was also found to be the most effective in initial studies when uterine contractility was measured at different times between administration of mifepristone and of prostaglandin (3). It has been shown recently, however, that the interval can be shortened to 24 hours or lengthened to 72 hours, without loss of efficacy, when mifepristone is used in combination with 0.8 mg of vaginally administered misoprostol (4, 5). If misoprostol is given as an oral dose of 0.4 mg, the interval of 36–48 hours should be adhered to. Other time intervals are currently being studied (6).

References

- von Hertzen H et al. WHO multinational study of three misoprostol regimens after mifepristone for early medical abortion. I: Efficacy. BJOG, 2003, 110:808–818.
- MIFEPREX® (mifepristone) Tablets, 200 mg; for oral administration only. Available at: http://www.earlyoptionpill.com/pdfs/prescribing071905.pdf; accessed on 17 February 2006.
- 3. Swahn ML, Bygdeman M. The effect of the antiprogestin RU 486 on uterine contractility and sensitivity to prostaglandin and oxytocin. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1988, 95:126–134.
- 4. Schaff EA et al. Vaginal misoprostol administered 1, 2, or 3 days after mifepristone for early medical abortion: a randomized trial. *JAMA*, 2000, 284:1948–1953.
- Schaff EA, Fielding SL, Westhoff C. Randomized trial of oral versus vaginal misoprostol at one day after mifepristone for early medical abortion. *Contraception*, 2001, 64:81–85.
- Creinin MD et al. A randomized comparison of misoprostol 6 to 8 hours versus 24 hours after mifepristone for abortion. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2004, 103:851–859.

14. Can abortion be induced using prostaglandin alone?

It is possible to induce abortion in early pregnancy using prostaglandins alone. However, even the most effective regimens, involving repeated relatively large doses of misoprostol (0.8 mg) or gemeprost (1 mg) vaginally, are less effective and have more side-effects than the combination regimens with mifepristone pretreatment.

There is insufficient evidence to support recommendations on the dose, route of administration and timing of regimens using prostaglandins alone. Reported case series suggest that repeated administration of 0.8 mg of vaginal misoprostol is needed. The only randomized study (yet unpublished), that compared a short (3-hour) and a long (12-hour) interval between vaginal and sublingual doses, demonstrated that if misoprostol is given sublingually, it has to be administered at the shorter interval to have a similar effectiveness as vaginal administration.

Further reading

- 1. Jain JK et al. A prospective randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial comparing mifepristone and vaginal misoprostol to vaginal misoprostol alone for elective termination of early pregnancy. *Human Reproduction*, 2002, 17:1477–1482.
- 2. Meckstroth KR, Darney PD. Prostaglandins for first-trimester termination. *Best Practices in Research in Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 2003, 17:745–763.
- 3. Carbonell JL et al. Oral and vaginal misoprostol 800 microg every 8 h for early abortion. *Contraception*, 2003, 67:457–462.
- Norman JE et al. Medical abortion in women of less than or equal to 56 days amenorrhoea: a comparison between gemeprost (a PGE1 analogue) alone and mifepristone and gemeprost. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1992, 99:601–606.

15. What pain relief should be available to women during medical abortion?

Pain is caused both by the abortion process and as a side-effect of the prostaglandin. It is most likely to be felt in the few hours after administration of the prostaglandin, when the gestational sac/embryo is being expelled from the uterus. Studies have shown that women feel less pain if they are older, have been pregnant before or are in the early stages of pregnancy. However, none of these factors is sufficiently predictive to be useful in the management of individual cases.

The perception of pain and request for relief vary greatly from one individual to another and among cultures. In any case, health-care providers should make adequate analgesia easily available to all women who request it during medical abortion. Examples of commonly used preparations are: paracetamol 500–1000 mg or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as ibuprofen 200 mg. In cases of severe pain, codeine 30–40 mg may be added to either of the above-mentioned treatments.

- 1. Ashok PW et al. Factors affecting the outcome of early medical abortion: a review of 4132 consecutive cases. *BJOG*, 2002, 109:1281–1289.
- 2. Westhoff C et al. Predictors of analgesia use during supervised medical abortion. *Contraception*, 2000, 61:225–229.
- 3. Westhoff C, Dasmahapatra R, Schaff E. Analgesia during at-home use of misoprostol as part of a medical abortion regimen. *Contraception*, 2000, 62:311–314.

POSTABORTION CARE



16. If a woman has an incomplete abortion, is it necessary to evacuate the uterus surgically?

On average, vaginal bleeding gradually diminishes over about two weeks after a medical abortion, but in individual cases spotting can last up to 45 days. Generally, bleeding after medical abortion lasts longer than after vacuum aspiration. If the woman is well, neither prolonged bleeding nor the presence of tissue in the uterus (as detected by ultrasound) is an indication for surgical intervention. Remaining products of conception will be expelled during subsequent vaginal bleeding. Surgical evacuation of the uterus may be carried out on the woman's request or if the bleeding is heavy or prolonged, or causes anaemia, or if there is evidence of infection. In the latter case, antibiotic treatment should be initiated (see question 17).

Further reading

- Fiala C et al. Verifying the effectiveness of medical abortion; ultrasound versus hCG testing. European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology, 2003, 109:190–195.
- Acharya G et al. Role of routine ultrasonography in monitoring the outcome of medical abortion in a clinical setting. *Acta Obstetrica et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 2004, 83:390–394.
- 3. Cowett AA et al. Ultrasound evaluation of the endometrium after medical termination of pregnancy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2004, 103:871–875.

17. How should pelvic infection be diagnosed and treated after abortion?

The genital tract is more susceptible to ascending infection when the cervix is dilated after abortion or childbirth. There are few data on the incidence of clinically significant pelvic infection after medical abortion, but it seems to be rare and probably occurs less often than after vacuum aspiration. Many of the symptoms of pelvic infection, such as pain, are rather nonspecific and hence precise diagnosis is difficult. Women with clinical signs such as pelvic pain, abdominal or adnexal tenderness, vaginal discharge and fever should be treated with broad-spectrum antibiotics.

Rare cases of anaerobic infection without fever have been reported from Canada (one case) and the USA (four cases) following medical termination of pregnancy. No such cases have been reported from China or from Europe. In the reported cases women had little or no fever; variable nausea, vomiting, weakness and some abdominal pain; rapid deterioration within hours or days; tachycardia and refractory hypotension; multiple effusions; elevated haematocrit and elevated leukocyte count, neutrophilia. All five of the women had *Clostridium sordellii*-related toxic shock.

References

 FDA Public health advisory; sepsis and medical abortion. US Food and Drug Administration. Available at www.fda.gov/cder/drug/advisory/mifeprex.htm; accessed on 20 February 2006.

Further reading

- Shannon C et al. Infection after medical abortion: a review of the literature. Contraception, 2004, 70:183–190.
- 2. Sitruk-Ware R, Spitz IM. Pharmacological properties of mifepristone: toxicology and safety in animal and human studies. *Contraception*, 2003, 68:409–420.

18. How should the success of medical abortion be confirmed?

For all women who undergo medical abortion, it is important to confirm that the pregnancy has indeed been terminated. If expulsion of the products of conception was confirmed by a qualified person in the hours after administration of the prostaglandin, further follow-up is not absolutely necessary. Otherwise, a follow-up visit should be arranged about two weeks after the administration of mifepristone, at the convenience of the patient.

At the follow-up visit, complete abortion should be confirmed clinically, either by bimanual pelvic examination or, if available, pelvic ultrasound. If serial measurements of human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) in blood or urine are used, it should be remembered that in some cases low hCG levels can be detectable for up to four weeks after successful expulsion. Women who continue to have symptoms of pregnancy or who have minimal bleeding are most likely to be still pregnant.

19. How should ectopic pregnancy be identified after medical abortion?

Ectopic pregnancy is a life-threatening condition and a significant cause of maternal mortality. See question 7 for the steps that should be taken before medical abortion to detect ectopic pregnancy.

Even where these steps have been taken, health-care providers should be aware of the possibility of ectopic pregnancy and of the fact that medical abortion may mask its symptoms. Very occasionally, an ectopic pregnancy may co-exist with an intrauterine pregnancy.

If an ectopic pregnancy is clinically suspected (e.g. the woman has continuing symptoms of pregnancy or abdominal pain), further investigations, such as pelvic ultrasound and serial measurement of hCG, should be performed. If this is not possible, the woman should be referred to a specialist centre.

Further reading

- 1. Kelly AJ, Sowter MC, Trinder J. *The management of tubal pregnancy.* London, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2004 (RCOG Guideline No.21).
- 2. Shannon C et al. Ectopic pregnancy and medical abortion. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2004, 104:161–167.

20. Is there a risk of fetal abnormality after an unsuccessful medical abortion?

Only one anomaly has been reported after the use of mifepristone alone. This case, described as a sirenomelia (1), could not be related to the drug intake. Indeed, this type of anomaly occurs at a very early stage of pregnancy – at about four weeks of embryo development – while the treatment was taken in the fifth week of pregnancy. Thirteen other cases of malformation have been reported: all occurred in pregnancies in which mifepristone was administered at 7–9 weeks of amenorrhoea, followed in eight cases by gemeprost and in five cases by misoprostol. None of the events could be conclusively related to the treatment (2).

It is not possible to determine whether the reported anomalies were caused by the treatment, since the incidence of birth defects in a normal population is around 2 per 100 births (3). Some prostaglandins have been classified as teratogenic, although misoprostol did not induce such effects in embryotoxicology studies (4). Mifepristone is not a teratogenic agent but, when used in combination with a prostaglandin, may induce uterine contraction, which could account for some of the observed defects (5).

Since the available data are limited and inconclusive, there is no need to insist on termination of an exposed pregnancy if the woman wishes to continue it. Women should, nevertheless, be informed that, because of the unknown risk of abortifacient drugs to the fetus, follow-up is important.

References

- 1. Pons J-C et al. Development after exposure to mifepristone in early pregnancy. *The Lancet*, 1991, 338:763.
- 2. Exelgyn. Periodic safety update No. 16, 31 May 2005.
- 3. Sitruk-Ware R, Davey A, Sakiz E. Fetal malformation and failed medical termination of pregnancy. *The Lancet*, 1998, 352:323.
- 4. Kotsonis FN et at. Preclinical toxicology profile of misoprostol. *Digestive Diseases Sciences*, 1985, 30 (11 Suppl.) 142S–146S.

 Jost A. New data on the hormonal requirements of the pregnant rabbit: partial pregnancies and fetal abnormalities after treatment with a hormonal antagonist at subabortifacient doses. *Comptes Rendues de l'Académie des Sciences*, 1986, 303 (series III, No. 7):281–284.

21. Which methods of contraception can a woman use after medical abortion?

Most women who have an induced abortion for an unwanted pregnancy do not want to get pregnant again immediately. In a few cases, there may be medical reasons for avoiding immediate pregnancy. Postabortion family planning is therefore an integral part of comprehensive abortion care (1, 2).

Women who have had an early abortion are almost immediately at risk of becoming pregnant again. Ovulation may occur as early as day 10 (3) after a first-trimester abortion; up to 78% of women in one study had ovulated by the time of the six-week follow-up (4).

Women who have had a medical abortion can use any modern method of contraception afterwards. When the woman is counselled about the abortion, the opportunity should be taken to review her contraceptive needs. Ideally, she should be provided with an effective contraceptive method immediately after the abortion.

Combined oral contraceptive pills can be started on the day that misoprostol is administered, when expulsion usually occurs. Two prospective randomized controlled studies evaluated the effects of immediate use of combined oral contraceptive pills versus placebo following medical abortion and found no difference in complete abortion rates, side-effects and duration of bleeding (5, 6). Progestogen-only methods are commonly associated with breakthrough bleeding, which may be confused with an incomplete abortion.

Depot-medroxyprogesterone injections and implants are often associated with amenorrhoea, or irregular bleeding, which may make it difficult to determine whether pregnancy has been terminated. It may therefore be preferable to start using these methods only after it has been confirmed that the pregnancy has been terminated. Sterilization and insertion of an intrauterine device should be deferred until confirmation that the abortion is complete.

Women who choose a contraceptive method that cannot be started immediately should be encouraged to use condoms in the meantime. Other methods, such as caps, sponges, diaphragm, spermicidal foams, jellies and vaginal tablets, can be used as soon as sexual intercourse is resumed, preferably when bleeding has stopped. Methods of natural family planning can be resumed only after the return of regular cycles.

References

- 1. Johnson BR et al. Reducing unplanned pregnancy and abortion in Zimbabwe through postabortion contraception. *Studies in Family Planning*, 2002, 33:195–202.
- 2. Pandey DN et al. Contraceptive coverage after medical termination of pregnancy. *Indian Journal of Hospital Pharmacology*, 1989, 26:154–157.
- 3. Boyd EF, Holmström EG. Ovulation following therapeutic abortion. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 1972, 113:469–473.
- 4. Lähteenmäki P et al. Return of ovulation after abortion and after discontinuation of oral contraceptives. *Fertility and Sterility*, 1980, 34:246–249.
- Martin CW, Brown AH, Baird DT. A pilot study of the effect of methotrexate or combined oral contraceptive on bleeding patterns after induction of abortion with mifepristone and a prostaglandin pessary. *Contraception*, 1998, 58:99–103.
- Tang OS et al. The effect of contraceptive pills on the measured blood loss in medical termination of pregnancy by mifepristone and misoprostol: a randomized placebo controlled trial. *Human Reproduction*, 2002, 17:99–102.

ISSUES RELATED TO PROVISION OF MEDICAL ABORTION SERVICES

Legal and regulatory issues

The practice of abortion is governed by regulations operating within the legal framework of the specific country and/or locality. In most countries, termination of pregnancy is legally permitted for at least one indication, e.g. after rape or to protect the life of the pregnant woman. Legislation in some countries permits abortion for a broad range of indications. Often, the legal framework was established long before medical abortion became available.

The development of methods for medical abortion can raise some uncertainty in the interpretation of existing laws or regulations, as these were generally formulated on the basis of surgical abortion as the prevailing method. For example, in some countries, the law requires that abortions take place in a clinic registered for the purpose. With surgical methods there is no doubt as to where the abortion is performed. But when abortion is induced by medication, is the abortion performed where the drugs are prescribed or where they are administered? Or is it where the products of conception are expelled?

Setting up a medical abortion service

Health-care managers who are contemplating setting up a service to provide medical abortion will first need to find out what is the relevant legal framework in their country with regard to medical abortion. In many countries, there are no specific regulations dealing with medical abortion; in this case, medical abortion is governed by the general abortion regulations. Other countries may have specific regulations relating to the provision of medical abortion.

There may be regulations governing which facilities can provide abortion services. In some countries, the national government may stipulate standards through legislation or through health system norms and regulations. Elsewhere, such regulations may be drawn up at the province, state or local level.

Medical abortion may be provided in health-care settings that do not already provide abortion services. Ideally, it should be integrated into broader reproductive health services. This would allow women who have had a medical abortion easy access to other services — such as family planning — as an important element of comprehensive abortion care.

Emergency care and facilities for surgical intervention should be available locally or through a referral mechanism with established linkages. Back-up services should include uterine evacuation, fluid replacement and blood transfusion.

Obtaining the necessary medicines

Where mifepristone is already licensed for use in medical abortion, the licence will usually specify that it should be used with a specific prostaglandin (usually misoprostol), or simply that a "suitable prostaglandin" should be used. In countries where medical abortion is permitted, mifepristone is available from the physician or clinic. However, it is possible that no prostaglandin appropriate for use in early medical abortion is licensed. When no licensed prostaglandin is available, misoprostol is generally used since it is available in many countries, although it is not specifically licensed for use in abortion.

In many places, licensed medicines can be used for clinical indications that are not covered by the original product registration. Often, physicians have the freedom to use medicines for unlicensed purposes when there is medical evidence to support such use. If a physician uses a drug for purposes other than for which the drug is licensed, the physician must inform the patient about this. Managers considering the introduction of medical abortion should check the situation in their country with regard to this issue. In some reimbursement systems, doctors may prescribe off-label use, but patients may not be able to claim reimbursement for the treatment.

According to the United States Food and Drug Administration, "Good medical practice and the best interests of the patient require that physicians use legally available drugs, biologics and devices according to their best knowledge and judgment. If physicians use a product for an indication not in the approved labelling, they have the responsibility to be well informed about the product, to base its use on firm scientific rationale and on sound medical evidence, and to maintain records of the product's use and effects."

- MIFEPREX® (mifepristone) Tablets, 200 mg; for oral administration only. Available at: http://www.earlyoptionpill.com/pdfs/prescribing071905.pdf; accessed on 23 February 2006.
- 2. Misoprostol. Major labelling changes. *WHO Pharmaceuticals Newsletter*, 2002, 3:5.
- 3. Weeks AD, Fiala C, Safar P. Misoprostol and the debate over off-label drug use. *BJOG*, 2005, 112:269–272.

Annex 1

INTERNATIONAL CONSENSUS CONFERENCE ON NON-SURGICAL (MEDICAL) ABORTION IN EARLY FIRST TRIMESTER ON ISSUES RELATED TO REGIMENS AND SERVICE DELIVERY

Bellagio Conference Center, Bellagio, Italy 1–5 November 2004

Participants

Dr David Baird, Professor, Contraceptive Development Network, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, Scotland

Dr Laura Castleman, Medical Director, Ipas, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Dr Linan Cheng, Director, Shanghai Institute of Family Planning Technical Instruction, Shanghai, People's Republic of China

Dr Kurus Coyaji, Director and Hon. Professor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, K.E.M. Hospital, Pune, India

Ms Angela Davey, Business and Medical Services Director, Exelgyn, Oxfordshire, United Kingdom

Dr Christian Fiala, Chair of FIAPAC, Vienna, Austria

Dr Kristina Gemzell-Danielsson, Director, WHO Collaborating Centre in Human Reproduction, Department of Woman and Child Health, Division for Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

Dr Selma Hajri, Consultant in Reproductive Health, Tunis, Tunisia

Dr Helena von Hertzen, Medical Officer, Manager, Research Group on Post-ovulatory Methods for Fertility Regulation, UNDP/UNFPA/WHO/World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP), World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

Dr Pak Chung Ho, Professor and Chair in Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Hong Kong, Special Administrative Region of China

Dr Lena Marions, Senior Consultant, WHO Collaborating Centre in Human Reproduction, Department of Woman and Child Health, Division for Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

Dr Suneeta Mittal, Professor and Head, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology and Director in Charge, WHO Collaborating Centre in Human Reproduction, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

Dr Nguyen thi Nhu Ngoc, Consultant in Research and International Collaboration, Medical Abortion Unit, WHO Collaborating Centre in Human Reproduction, Hungvuong Hospital, Ho Chi Minh City, Viet Nam

Dr Joachim Oehler, Chief Executive Officer, The Concept Foundation, Pathumthani, Thailand

Dr Gillian Penney, Clinical Senior Lecturer at the Universities of Edinburgh and Aberdeen, SPCERH, Aberdeen Maternity Hospital, Aberdeen, Scotland

Dr Gilda Piaggio, Statistician, Statistics and Informatics Support Team, UNDP/UNFPA/WHO/World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP), World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

Dr Eric A. Schaff, Professor of Family Medicine, of Pediatrics and of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Director, Reproductive Health Program Fellowship, Department of Family Medicine, University of Rochester, School of Medicine, Rochester, NY, USA

Dr Régine Sitruk-Ware, Adjunct Professor, Rockefeller University and Executive Director Contraceptive Development, Center for Biomedical Research, Population Council, New York, NY, USA

Dr Oi Shan Tang, Associate Consultant, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Special Administrative Region of China

Dr Beverly Winikoff, President, Gynuity Health Projects, New York, NY, USA